# Federal Tax Credit Programs for the Film and Television Production Industry

Canadian Audio-Visual Certification Office (CAVCO)
March 2017 ~ Mornivia

### **Table of Contents**

### Overview

- 1. Deadlines and Waivers
- 2. Corporations

7. Personnel

6. Exploitation

- 3. Underlying Rights and Copyright
- 8. Ineligible Genres
- 4. Production Costs
- 9. Production Control

5. Financing

**CAVCO - Contact Information** 

2.

### Overview

- In 2015-16, the film and television production industry in Canada supported 140,600 jobs and generated an estimated \$8.5 billion in GDP for the Canadian economy.<sup>1</sup>
- The Department of Canadian Heritage, through the Canadian Audio-Visual Certification Office (CAVCO), and the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) co-administer two tax credit programs for the film and television industry:
  - The Canadian Film or Video Production Tax Credit (CPTC)
    - offers a fiscal advantage (based on labour costs) to Canadian-owned production companies producing Canadian content film and television productions
    - · Projected value of CPTC for 2017 is \$300 million
  - The Film or Video Production Services Tax Credit (PSTC)
    - offers a fiscal advantage (based on labour costs) for the production of foreign- or Canadian-owned film and television productions in Canada
    - · Projected value of PSTC for 2017 is \$150 million
- In 2016-17, CAVCO received close to 3000 Tax Credit Certification applications and issued over 2500 certificates.

Source: Profile 2016: Economic Report on the Screen-based Media Production Industry in Canada, p.4

3

### Canadian Film or Video Production Tax Credit (CPTC)

- Objective
  - Introduced in 1995 to support the creation of Canadian film and television productions and the development of an active domestic production sector
- Key criteria for eligibility
  - Canadian-owned and controlled production companies producing Canadian content productions, including treaty coproductions
  - Producer-related personnel and a minimum number of key creative personnel must be Canadian citizens or permanent residents
  - Agreement with either a Canadian broadcaster or a Canadian distributor to show the production in Canada within 2 years
  - Productions cannot be ineligible genres (e.g. news, current events programming, sports events, awards shows, pornography, advertising)
  - · Minimum Canadian production and post-production expenditure requirements
  - Copyright ownership of production by Canadian production company

### Canadian Film or Video Production Tax Credit (CPTC) (cont.)

### · Tax credit rate

- Equal to 25% of the qualified labour expenditures (QLE). The QLE refers to the eligible labour expenditure, capped at 60% of the cost of production net of assistance.
- · Maximum credit is 15% of the cost of production (25% of 60%)

### Administration

- CAVCO Reviews applications to determine whether a production meets the Canadian content
  requirements set out in section 1106 of the *Income Tax Regulations*, estimates eligible labour
  expenses, and recommends to the Minister of Canadian Heritage whether or not the production
  should be certified. Under section 125.4 of the *Income Tax Act*, the Minister of Canadian
  Heritage is responsible for issuing a <u>Canadian film or video production certificate</u> (Part A
  certificate) to a production meeting the requirements of the Regulations. A <u>certificate of
  completion</u> (Part B certificate) must also be issued once the production is complete.
- CRA Interprets and applies relevant sections of the Income Tax Act, reviews and audits tax
  claims and issues refund cheques. To obtain the tax credit, the production company files the
  CAVCO Part A certificate with the CRA when filing its annual corporate income tax return(s) for
  years in which it incurred expenses for a production.

5

### Film or Video Production Services Tax Credit (PSTC)

### Objective

- Introduced in 1997 to encourage the use of Canadian labour on productions shot in Canada
- Promotes Canada as a location of choice for foreign and Canadian-owned film and television productions and ensures the existence of a production infrastructure of international calibre in Canada

### Eligibility

- Taxable Canadian or foreign-owned companies established in Canada
- No Canadian content requirements, but productions must meet minimum cost requirements and not be ineligible genres (e.g. news, current events programming, talk shows, sports events, awards shows, pornography, advertising)

### Tax credit rate

Available at a rate of 16% of the "qualified Canadian labour expenditure" incurred by an eligible production
corporation for services provided in Canada by Canadian residents, net of assistance.

### Administration

- CAVCO Makes a recommendation to the Minister of Canadlan Heritage after reviewing whether a
  production meets the requirements of section 9300 of the *income Tax Regulations*. Under section 125.5 of
  the Act, the Minister is responsible for Issuing an accredited film or video certificate for eligible productions.
- CRA Interprets and applies retevant sections of the Income Tax Act, reviews and audits tax claims and issues tax refund cheques

### Administration of treaty coproductions

- An audiovisual coproduction is a film or television production created by pooling creative, technical and financial resources of Canadian and foreign coproducers
- · Canada has ratifled agreements with 54 foreign countries
- Coproductions produced according to the terms of an international coproduction treaty are granted national status in each partnering country and are eligible for the CPTC
- 60 treaty coproductions produced in 2014/15 were certified under the CPTC program. The total Canadian production budgets for these productions was \$216 million
- Telefilm Canada provides CAVCO with a preliminary and final recommendation on whether or not a
  production is produced according to the requirements of the applicable treaty
- CAVCO is responsible for assessing whether or not a production meets all the requirements of the
   *Income Tax Act* and Regulations, including whether or not it is a coproduction pursuant to a treaty,
   and for providing a recommendation on whether or not to issue a "Canadian film or video production
   certificate" for the production, taking into account the written recommendation from Telefilm
- CAVCO is also responsible for reviewing "coproduction attestation" requests in respect of
  productions produced according to a treaty that are not eligible to the CPTC, or for which no CPTC
  application has been submitted

-

### **Application Fees (CPTC)**

- A fee is required for each application to CAVCO, based on the Eligible Production Cost amount for the production. The fee is calculated as follows:
  - Part A: 0.15% of Eligible Production Cost
  - · Part B: 0.15% of Eligible Production Cost
  - Part A/B: 0.30% of Eligible Production Cost (minimum fee of \$200)
- An additional fee of \$300 is required for amending a previously issued certificate, at the request of the producer.
- <u>Eligible Production Cost</u>: An amount equivalent to 60% of the total production cost net of assistance.

### **Application Fees (PSTC)**

- An administration fee of C\$5,000 is payable for each application for an Accreditation Certificate for a production or a series of episodes. An application for a series of episodes generally includes only those episodes produced for one broadcast season. If a pilot episode is applied for under a separate application, an application for the remainder of the episodes in that broadcast season is subject to an additional application fee.
- An additional amendment fee of C\$1,000 is required where copyright ownership has changed after an Accreditation Certificate has been issued and an Amended Accreditation Certificate is required.

9

Information Relevant to Applying for the Canadian Film or Video Production Tax Credit

### 1. DEADLINES AND WAIVERS

11

### **Deadlines**

- There are two Part B application deadline options in the Regulations.
  - The first deadline is the 24-month deadline no valid CRA waivers are required.
  - The second deadline is the 42-month deadline, which is final two valid CRA waivers are required.
- The Part B certification deadline in the Regulations is the 48-month deadline, after which CAVCO cannot recommend certification.
- More information on deadlines can be found in CAVCO Public Notice 2013-01, available on CAVCO's
  weeksite

### **Calculating Application and Certification Deadlines**

- Three dates are used to calculate the application and certification deadlines. They are:
  - · the Start Date of Principal Photography,
  - the Corporate Taxation Year End date selected by the production company, and
  - the Date of Incorporation of the production company.
- The first date that must be determined is the First Corporate Taxation Year End date that followed Commencement of Principal Photography, as all the deadlines are calculated from this date.
- The 24-month, 30-month, 42-month, and 48-month deadlines are just those number of months added to the First Corporate Taxation Year End date that followed Commencement of Principal Photography.

13

### Calculating Application and Certification Deadlines (cont'd)

### Example

Commencement Date of Principal Photography
Corporate Taxation Year End date
Date of Incorporation
First Corporate Taxation Year End date that followed
Commencement of Principal Photography
24-month application deadline
30-month certification deadline with 2 waivers\*
48-month certification deadline

May 21, 2011 Last day in February each calendar year October 10, 2004

February 29, 2012 February 28, 2014 August 28, 2014 (or August 31) August 28, 2015 (or August 31) February 29, 2016

\* CRA waivers required for taxation years ending on Feb 29, 2012 and Feb 28, 2013.

### **Waivers**

- The Waiver is officially known as Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) form T2029 "Waiver in Respect of the Normal Reassessment Period".
- Once the CRA has assessed a corporation's income tax return for a particular taxation year, the CRA issues its Notice of Assessment to the corporation.
- For a private corporation, the normal reassessment period is three years from the date of the Notice of Assessment (for a publicly-traded corporation, it is four years from the date of the Notice of Assessment).
- For a production to use the final application deadline of 42-months from the first corporate taxation
  year end that followed commencement of principal photography, the production company must file a
  valid waiver for the first and second taxation years that followed commencement of principal
  photography.

15

### Waivers (cont'd)

- Two valid waivers must be filed with the CRA by the production company for any production where the Part B application was filed after the 24-month application deadline but by the 42-month application deadline.
- The production company should mail the two waivers to the CRA's Film & Media Tax Credits section in Ottawa - the specific address is provided in CAVCO Public Notice 2013-01.
- · Valid waivers are required for all production companies in a domestic co-production.
- The only exception to this requirement for these later Part B applications is if a relevant taxation
  year has not yet been assessed by the CRA. It is not possible to extend the reassessment period
  before that year has been assessed.
- <u>IMPORTANT NOTE</u>: If a producer does not submit a Part B application prior to the 24-month deadline and fails to file the required CRA waivers, CAVCO must revoke the Part A certificate.

## PROTECTED A when completed

Walver in respect of the normal reassessment period or extended reassessment period

For use by a taxpayer to waive the normal massessment period in respect of a taxation year, as defined in subsection 152(3.1), or the additional three year pariod referred to in paragraph 152(4), within rehist the Minister may assess, reasess or make additional assessments under subsection 152(4) of the Income Tax Act.

For a Walver in respect of the normal reassessment period provided under subparagraph (52(4)(a)(i):

- -- One completed copy of this Walver is to be filed with the Tax Services Office within:
- four years, where at the end of the year the taxpuyer is a mutual fund trust or a corporation other than a Canadian-controlled private corporation; or
- (2) three years in any other case,

after the earlier of the day of mailing of a notice of an original assessment or a notification that no lax to payable for a taxation year.

A Waiver in respect of the normal reassessment period may be revoked only by filing a NoSoc of Revocation of Waiver (Form 1652), and such revocation is effective on the day that is six months after the date on which the Notice is filed.

For a Waiver in respect of the extended reassessment period provided under paragraph 152(4)(b);

- One completed copy of this Waiver is to be filed with the Tax Services Office within three years after the expiry of the normal reassessment period.
- The Department of Finance released draft legislation for consultation on July 18, 2010 to amend subsection (52(4.1) of the Income Tax Act to allow a Laxpayer to revoke a waiver made under paragraph 162(4)(6). This amendment would come into force on Royal Assent.

Instructions applicable to both Walvers:

- In order for a Waiver to be valid, the mailer(s) being waived must be specified in the space provided and the Waiver must not specify a time limit in respect of its period of application.
- This Waiver must be signed by the taxpayer or legal representative, or, if a corporation, by an authorized officer.

Re 11 stypeers On the related   Note: Separate waiver   Note: Separate waive		* a <u>reconstruction of annihilation, this lecture has</u>		
Ty Main Street    Months Quaber A18 2C    9 digit bittliness number	ABC Canada Productions Inc.		у	
Months A, Quaber, A18 2C   Supplemental Full Delightess number		— lootbatere rex term		
1   2   2   4   5   6   7   8   9   Went for the insulting year and all   2   0   1   3   1   2   3   1   2   3   1   2   3   1   2   3   1   2   3   1   2   3   3   3   3   3   3   3   3   3	Montreal, Queber A182C3			
Check the applicable box and complete as directed:  The normal massessment period referred to in subparagraph 152(4)(6)(1) of the accome Tax Act, within which the Manister may reassess or make a distinctual assessments or assessment as assessment as a distinctual assessment or assessment or assessment or assessment or additional assessment or assessment or assessment or additional assessment or assessment or additional assessment as a distinctual assessment or assessment or additional assessment a			Wifter for the Insulien year ended	
The normal massessment period referred to in sub-paragraph 152(4)(6)(1) of the income Tax Act, within which the Manister may reassess or make admitional assessment for assessment and assessment and assessment and assessment and assessment of assessment and the following production (1):  To into Canadian Film or Makes Production Tax Circlet (section 125 A of the Income Tax Act) for the following production(1):  To into Canadian Film or Makes Production Tax Circlet (section 125 A of the Income Tax Act) for the following production(1):  To into Canadian Film or Makes and the following production (1):  The additional interespect production of the paragraph 152(4)(c) of the Income Tax Act, within which the Minister may reassess or make additional assessments or assess tax, interest of penalists under the Act is hereby waived for the focusion year instanced above, in respect of (3)-paragraph (5) (4) (6)(f) to (7) where the assessment, reassessment or additional assessment could otherwise have been issued.)			EA	
The state of the s	or make admitional assessi in respect of: the Canadian Film or Video Talleto: Canadian TV Show	period referred to in subparagraph 152(4) ments or assess lax, interest or penalties s	under the Act is hereby waived	tor the taxation year indicated above
Bridge of better in all reconstitutes at a Bridge of the Transaction of the Control of the Contr	or make additional assession respect of: the Canadian Film or Video Talletti Canadian TV Show Case Film Mumber(4: 2000) The additional three year; make additional assessment on respect of (5)pertry that	period referred to in exaparagraph 192(4) ments or assals lax, inferred or penation of Production Tax Gredit (section 125 A of the in section returned to in paragraph (52(4)(c) of ratio or assals lax, inferred or penation un- trividuo found in one of exaparagraphs 1	under the Act to hereby waived in scorn: Tax Act) for the following p f the Income Tax Act, within whi der the Act to hereby waived for	for the Azoalion year indicated above enduction(4): In the Allmikler may reassess or the Excellen year indicated above.
	or make additional assession respect of: the Canadian Film or Video Talletti Canadian TV Show Case Film Mumber(4: 2000) The additional three year; make additional assessment on respect of (5)pertry that	period referred to in exaparagraph 192(4) ments or assals lax, inferred or penation of Production Tax Gredit (section 125 A of the in section returned to in paragraph (52(4)(c) of ratio or assals lax, inferred or penation un- trividuo found in one of exaparagraphs 1	under the Act to hereby waived in scorn: Tax Act) for the following p f the Income Tax Act, within whi der the Act to hereby waived for	for the Azoalion year indicated above enduction(4): In the Allmikler may reassess or the Excellen year indicated above.

### 2. CORPORATIONS

19

### **Corporate Eligibility**

- To qualify for the CPTC, the applicant production company, and if applicable, the Canadian distribution company through which it will distribute the production in Canada, must be owned and controlled by Canadians.
- Information regarding the shareholders of these companies is required to confirm that a corporation
  applying under the CPTC program is Canadian-controlled, as determined by sections 26 to 28 of the
  investment Canada Act.
- · More than 50% of voting shares must be owned and controlled by "Canadians".
- Any corporate or other business shareholder that owns a majority of voting shares in the production company must also be confirmed as being Canadian-controlled. As well, where there are several minority shareholders which are corporations or other business entitles, it must be established that a majority of shares are owned by Canadian-controlled entities.
- CAVCO may request additional agreements relating to the decision-making authority of shareholders in a production company.

### Corporate Eligibility (cont.)

- A corporation must be both de jure (legal control) and de facto (actual control) Canadian-controlled with respect to voting shares, pursuant to CAVCO's review of the shareholder information.
- De jure control of a company exists when a person, or group by virtue of shareholdings, has the
  power to elect the majority of the board of directors. This is demonstrated in legal contracts.
- De facto control focuses on influence, rather than legal power. This type of control exists when another corporation, person or group of persons has any direct or indirect influence that, if exercised, would result in control in fact of the corporation.
- A corporation that is controlled directly or indirectly in any manner whatsoever by one or more
  persons, all or part of whose taxable income is exempt from tax under Part I of the *Income Tax Act*, or
  a prescribed labour-sponsored venture capital corporation referred to in s. 6701 of the Regulations, is
  not considered to be a "prescribed taxable Canadian corporation", as defined by regulation. A
  production produced by such a corporation is ineligible for the Canadian film or video production tax
  credit

21

### Corporate Eligibility (cont.)

According to the Investment Canada Act, Canadian means:

- a Canadian citizen;
- a permanent resident within the meaning of subsection 2(1) of the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act, who has been ordinarily resident in Canada for not more than one year after the time at which he or she first became eligible to apply for Canadian citizenship;
- a Canadian government, whether federal, provincial or local, or an agency thereof; or,
- an entity that is Canadian-controlled.

To be considered "ordinarily resident" in Canada, an Individual must demonstrate that they have taken residence in Canada in their usual day-to-day routine. If a permanent resident is eligible for citizenship, they have a maximum of one year to apply to obtain Canadian citizenship; if they don't, they are not considered to be "Canadian" according to the *Investment Canada Act*.

Please note that the above statements apply only to the determination of whether a <u>corporation</u> is Canadian. Permanent residents are always considered Canadian for the allotment of key creative points.

### 3. UNDERLYING RIGHTS AND COPYRIGHT

23

### Copyright

The Canadian production company must retain copyright in the production for all commercial exploitation purposes for the 25-year period beginning at the time the production becomes commercially exploitable.

This does not apply to treaty-co productions.

### Chain of title

- The development process in film and television production begins with securing the underlying rights to a project. Whether the project is based on a novel, a friend's story or an original idea, to turn that original material into a film or television project requires the owner to give the rights to use the material in that way.
- "Chain of title" within the context of the film and television industry refers to a series of documents or
  agreements that establish proprietary (ownership) rights in a production and all its parts. It is a
  collection of all of the documents that relate to the creation of and transfer of title to any property
  used in the making of the production.
- This chain of documentation demonstrates how the production company has full rights to develop, produce and distribute a work.
- · Chain of title documents may include:
  - Option and purchase agreement
  - · Writer's agreement
  - · Assignment and transfer agreement
  - · Quitclaim agreement
  - · Director or producer agreement
  - · Domestic coproduction agreement
- Chain of copyright is used by CAVCO to evaluate that there is clean legal title in a work no
  evidence of competing claims, underlying rights not being transferred properly, etc.

25

### 4. PRODUCTION COSTS

### Overview

Applicants provide cost information in a number of ways:

- Costs Section (application)
- Locked budget (Part A)
- Final Cost Report (Part B)
- Breakdown of Costs Live Action (01F21) or Animation (01F22) (Part B)
- Audited Schedule of Production Costs or Review Engagement Report (Part B)

### Labour Expenditures:

- must be reasonable in the circumstances;
- must be included in the cost or, in the case of depreciable property, the capital cost to the corporation, of the property;
- must be incurred from the production commencement time to the end of post-production stage; and
- must be directly attributable to the production of the property.

27

### **Audits**

- An audited Schedule of Production Costs is required at the Part B stage for all productions with a final cost of \$500,000 or more.
- · A Review Engagement is required for productions with a final cost of \$200,000 to \$499,999.
- For productions with a final cost of less than \$200,000, the producer will confirm the final production cost amount as part of the Attestation made for an application.
- · Audit requirements
  - The auditor must be a Licensed Public Accountant in Canada and must be an independent third party not related to the producer.
  - The auditor's report must be addressed to the party which has engaged the auditor that is, to the directors of the production company or the specific producer(s) of the production. The auditor's name, address and telephone number must be listed and the auditor's report must be dated as at the completion of the audit fieldwork.
  - The audit must be performed in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and the auditor must have sufficient knowledge of accounting principles and practices generally recognized in the film and television industry.
  - The audit or a review engagement report must be signed by the accounting firm.
  - Report must be in Canadian dollars and should generally conform to the line items in the standard Telefilm budget template.

### **Canadian Costs**

- · Canadian costs are reported in a Breakdown of Cost form.
- At least 75% of the total of all costs for services provided toward producing the production (other than excluded costs) must be payable for services provided to or by Individuals who are Canadians, and at least 75% of the total of all costs incurred for the post-production must be incurred for services provided in Canada.
- · Form is divided into four main categories:
  - · Producer / Key creative personnel costs (1)
  - · Services costs (2)
  - · Laboratory / Post-Production costs (3)
  - · Other (4) expenses
- Only in the Services and Laboratory categories is the breakdown required based on costs being Canadian or non-Canadian.

29

# Breakdown of Canadian Costs - Live Action IMPORTANT - Not required for frestly co-production. - Type all interests as video budget accounts. - All interests in the state of the state

្រ	Pr/BigOlesións in		(5707-0)	Til.	0.759	1475	1 !			_
-		하고 있다		- 11		<del>                                     </del>	. (			
(		10, 10, 2		:: i		10.0				
<b>—</b>		313 top 5 cm	10 m		اجتب	·				
1 ' 1	a) Sharangaphon	I #1	10	м				<del></del>		
	to Drawed and Living Contracted	<del>    </del>		-			_			
	O Other Cours	A		#			ļ	*		
LATES		14)	<del></del>	#	je.	jo	10	<del></del>		
	Production									
<del>   </del>	Kes		*	4	•			*		
	Sattra.		- Fe	- 6		i	1 1			
<u> </u>	Production Staff		100	11				-		
	مواداها م	1 11		14	i		1	54		
	Construction ( Major			- 1	•			14		
	Set Danking Labour	1		- H				*		
	report from		- 40	10		i <u>.</u>				
	بيستارا زوباتزا تدومها		50	10		Ĺ		Д		
	Hunghing Laborary		*	44				- 14		
	Martinia (about		# .	. 14		mar u s	<u> </u>	*		
	His bogs Hills Collecte		10	\$6	i!			le le		
	Holes Perdenkal Carre	1 10	*	\$		}··	j			
11	(mestater	14		9			1	14		
	Granal Labour		29	2	J	1 1	1 22 23	54		
	Gify Labous			#	- 1	ľ	! . :	- 94		
	Peerlutter, Sound Labour		(+)	1		<u> </u>	L	90		
	Outposter/Paper,	إجفائها	(2)	40		Ι		(a)		
	fringe Messills	- M	10	4				14		
	patriops (spr. Phoens		•	12				14		
	indofesta tryans		10	11			! !			
	Caradian College Supermed NA (Company)		9	14				14		
	Any phase:		*			ļ	<u> </u>	14		
	Transfered Libray Expenses.	30		#						
	Transportation		-	- 54			<u> </u>			
	Continuation Manager		56							
	la kapila			- 10			i			
	tel (made)		- 5	- 1				<del></del>		
	People			40				54		
7	Spacial Effects		E#	14			i	94		
-	lpinul <sub>i</sub>		to to	14	التورية	<u></u>	i — — —	14		
41	Waterby Supples		- 60	(4			.	*		
	Makapitak jupater		P	14				*		
	ridae Norde Pacificis			10		i i	1 17	14		
	Malay Aurota Tychaik al Faciliyan	L. J	Įė.					*		
	Cores Carles		10	- 14			!			
	Second Section	1	- 14				! :-: <u>:</u>	*		
	Cry Equip			10	الروا		!	10		
	Sound Equipment			\$4		ļ <u>-</u>		*		
	Second Unit		- 4	10				<u> </u>		
	MAndape State Papharine Laboratory		- to	\$4 \$2	- (+			94		
	Production)		# # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # # #	14	<u> </u>	M M		4		
	A ===== 1,000Å	<u> </u>			-	. 10				

	นิเทาสโตรเดียร์ชสหรับการ	1.03 (0.37)	11.0	<b>3</b> 16	0.0595	60			
[-		9 66 360	j ' : <u>:</u> [		[ ]	il	ļ.		
kso-e-	6 (60000) x	1756001.1		Con to	1000	1000	430	(5/1 - 3	
	Part-Production								1
-	Editorial Labour		-						ĺ
1	d (Maryuman Milyon	60	5	الكنية	14	Ĺ0		ţo.	
1	toj Travel and Lhing Expenses	50			50	[4		10	ĺ
	& Other Cours		j - 9		30	(9		\$0	j
41	Gallander Equipment		l1		\$0	10		10	
	Vision Pers Production (Ficture)								
	o liaternication	10			\$0	14		50	
	b) Travel and Union Expenses	10	i		\$0	10		10	
L.,	q-Other Cerks				ţo.	60		10	ļ
60	Make Past Anadouskin Science	<u> </u>			56	(0		50	!
- 44	Fost Production Laboratory		] ;[		10	10		10	ļ
45	First Production Sound	إ	<u>                                     </u>		50	59		9	
-44	Mark								
1	a) Recourse allon b) Travel and Union Expenses	5			50	10		2	
1	d principal substanti	140	14	Şo		19		10	
1	di Ciriar Costs			,~	60	μ		10	
107	Titler/Opticals/Stock Footuge					10	*		}
<del>-</del>	4 Mes/Opticit		1		96	10		- 10	
1	b) Signi Foreige		10	. 60				10	1
-	Vm skreing		أفسد		340	10		50	
-	Amerikation (Series)	50	14	10	60	10	Şo		ì
San Yet	tal (Fort-Production)	50	10	6	30	10	10	\$6 19	ĺ
	Others								Ì
70	Unit Fability		14	io.		IL.		50	
77	General Expenses								ĺ
	1) pursuice	افتهدوا			1		10	50	)
1	toj Logalists		ļ		li. li		\$0	10	)
1	g Audited Cost		السلا		I		10	10	Į.
]	d Other Colum			الطببي	بالتبعد		\$6	50	!
2	Indirect Costs								!
1	o Corporate Overhead		<u> </u>					10	
1	b) Interio Financing						10	je	Į.
<b></b>	© Other Costs Completion Grow unitie			I	<u> </u>		\$0	ŞO	!
	Completion Grountse	10	14	20	10	10	<del>-</del>	19	1
Crast T		10	14 14	<u>ω</u>	30	19	101	10	1
- Table	7.5	1 70	. 10		90 90	- 17	- PO		ŀ
7-18	a Non Caradian Corb				- <del>"</del>		و ينازها		1
1							كالحصي		

### 5. FINANCING

33

### Overview

- · Various sources of financing are used to fund a production.
- Different types of financing affect the amount of the CPTC payable in respect of a production.
- The most important thing for the purpose of calculating the CPTC tax credit estimate is to determine
  whether a source of funding is assistance or not.
- Generally, assistance includes any amount received from public or private Canadian sources or from foreign sources, such as grants, subsidies, provincial tax credits, forgivable loans, deductions from tax, allowances, or any other form of inducement or assistance.
- The production company is required to report any assistance that is known or anticipated at the time
  of submitting an application.
- The production company must provide copies of all documents/contracts related to financing sources listed in an application.

### **Sources of Financing**

### Generally not assistance:

- Broadcast Licence Fees domestic or foreign broadcaster
- Distribution agreement advances or minimum guarantees (domestic and foreign)
- · Bona-fide Loan
- · Canada Media Fund License Fee Program
- Gap Financing agreement
- · Operating Capital
- Private Equity (e.g. Harold Greenberg Fund)
- · Share Purchase
- Sponsorship

35

### Sources of Financing (cont'd)

### Assistance:

- Government Equity
- Forgivable Loans
- Provincial Tax Credits
- Services
- Grants
- Canada Media Fund Equity Investment Program
- · Labour Deferrals
- Other Deferrals

### **Calculation of Tax Credits**

### Sample Financing Scenario and CPTC Calculation

Total Production Budget: \$335,000

Total Labour Expenditure: \$167,500

Financing:	
IPF – Equity	\$150,000
Provincial Tax Credit	\$100,000*
Broadcaster Licence	\$ 50,000
Distribution Advance	\$ 5,000
Producer/Crew Deferrats	\$ 10,000*
Operating Capital	\$ 10,000
Services/Facilities In-Kind	\$ 5,000*
Sponsor	\$ 5,000

<sup>1</sup> these amounts are considered assistance

Maximum tax credit ca	ilcula	ation (cap):
Total production cost	\$	335,000
Less assistance		115,000
Net production cost Maximum %	\$	220,000 x 60%
Eligible production cost	<u>\$</u>	132,000
Tax credit rate Maximum tax credit	\$	x 25% 33,000

Labour-based calculation:	
Actual labour expenditures	\$ 167,500
Tax credit rate	x 25%
Tax credit based on labour	\$ 41,875

Tax credit equals the lesser of the two calculations: \$ 33,000

37

### **Calculation of Tax Credits**

### **PSTC Calculation**

Tax credit	\$	560,000
Tax credit rate		x16%
Qualifled Canadian labour expenditure	\$	3,500,000
Less assistance (e.g. provincial tax credit):	- \$	1, <u>000,000</u>
Eligible Canadian labour:	\$ 4	4,500,000

### 6. EXPLOITATION

39

### Overview

- At least one of the Canadian distribution or broadcast agreements must contain a commitment to show the production in Canada within the two-year period following its completion.
- A production is an "excluded production" if it is distributed in Canada by a non-Canadian entity within
  the two-year period that begins after the production was completed and commercially exploitable.
- CAVCO must be satisfied that the Canadian production company retains an acceptable share of revenues from the exploitation of the production in non-Canadian territories, as well as the Canadian territory.

### The "2-year" clause

- There must be a commitment by a Canadian broadcaster or distributor to broadcast or distribute the production within the two-year period following its completion (i.e. the "2-year clause");
- A production is considered to be "shown in Canada" by being broadcast on television (for example, through conventional, specialty or pay television services, or licensed VOD services), shown in a movie theatre, distributed on DVD, or being made available on an online service meeting the requirements as set out in CAVCO's Public Notice 2017-01.
- In cases where a production is being exclusively shown on an online service, the service must:
  - be an online video service carrying other content pre-screened or pre-qualified by either (a)
     the online service or (b) the distributor, under an arrangement with the online service.
  - be readily accessible to Canadians in Canada; and
  - have Canada as a part of its target audience (i.e., be a service where Canadians would likely look for linear audio-visual content, as opposed to a service primarily intended for foreign territories).
- In all cases where a production is being shown exclusively online (except when directly
  contracting with CRTC-licensed broadcasters), the production company will still require an
  agreement in writing with a Canadian distributor to meet the "shown in Canada" requirement.

41

### 7. PERSONNEL

### **Overview of Canadian Content Point System**

- A production must meet CAVCO's key creative point requirements to be eligible for CPTC certification, unless it is a treaty co-production.
- Points are given where a key creative position is occupied exclusively by Canadians. A person must be Canadian for the duration of time they are working on a production.
- For individuals to be considered "Canadians", they must be either <u>Canadian citizens</u> or <u>permanent</u> <u>residents of Canada</u>. To demonstrate that a given individual is a Canadian, an applicant must submit a CAVCO Personnel Number (CAVCO ID) as part of their application.
  - · Maximum number of points available: 10
  - · Production must have minimum of 6 points
  - Point total can be lower than 6 for a documentary, but all filled key creative positions must be occupied by Canadians
  - A certificate number is issued for each of the episodes in a television series, so every episode
    must meet the minimum points requirement to be eligible for CPTC certification

43

### **Canadian Content Point System**

### Live Action

### Director 2 points 2 points Screenwriter Lead Performer 1 point receiving highest remuneration Lead Performer 1 point receiving second highest remuneration Art Director 1 point Music Composer 1 point Director of Photography 1 point Picture Editor

- Either the Director or Screenwriter must be Canadian
- Either the Lead Performer or Second Lead Performer must be Canadian
- Productions (other than documentaries) must obtain a minimum of 6 points to be eligible (n/a for treaty co-productions)
- Documentaries may obtain less than 6 points as long as all key creative positions are occupied by Canadians

### Animation

Director	1 point
Principal Screenwriter and	
Storyboard Supervisor	1 point
Lead Voice receiving highest or	
second highest remuneration	1 point
Design Supervisor	1 point
Music Composer	1 point
Picture Editor	1 point
Camera Operator (If done in Canada)	1 point
Layout and background	
done in Canada	1 point
Key Animation done in Canada	1 point
Assistent Animation/	
in-betweening done in Canada	1 point

- Either the Director or both the Principal screenwriter and Storyboard supervisor must be Canadian
- Either the First or Second Lead Voice Performer must be Canadian
- Key animation must be done in Canada
- In some cases, points are awarded where the individuals occupying positions are Canadian. In some cases, points are awarded where the work is done in Canada
- Must obtain a minimum of 6 points to be eligible (n/a for treaty co-productions)

### **Lead Performer Policy Overview**

- · Determining who gets the lead performer points is a two-step process:
  - · Who are the lead performers (considering remuneration, billing and time-on-screen)?
  - · Who are the highest and second highest paid lead performers?
- A performer who has only a minor or peripheral role will not be considered a lead performer
- See CAVCO Public Notice 2014-01 for full details of this policy

45

### **8. INELIGIBLE GENRES**

### Overview

- If a production falls under one of the ineligible genre categories, it will be considered an "excluded production" and not be eligible for a tax credit.
  - news, current events or public affairs programming, or a programme that includes weather or market reports,
  - a production in respect of a game, questionnaire or contest (other than a production directed primarily at minors),
  - a sports event or activity,
  - a gala presentation or an awards show,
  - · a production that solicits funds,
  - reality television,
  - pornography,
  - advertising,
  - a production produced primarily for industrial, corporate or institutional purposes, or
  - a production, other than a documentary, all or substantially all of which consists of stock footage.
  - · The list of ineligible genres is slightly different for the PSTC.
  - For more information, see CAVCO Public Notices 2017-02 and 2017-03.

.

### 9. PRODUCTION CONTROL

### Overview

- · CAVCO must ensure the producer has control over the production.
- · "Producer" means a producer of a film or video production who:
  - · controls and is the central decision maker in respect of the production;
  - is directly responsible for the acquisition of the production story or screenplay and the development, creative and financial control and exploitation of the production; and
  - · is identified in the production as being the producer of the production.
- · Producer must be a Canadian citizen or a permanent resident of Canada.

49

### Indicators

The following indicators are used to verify whether the required definition of "producer" is being met:

- The Canadian producer ("Producer") must have and maintain full control over the development
  of the project from the time at which the producer has secured the underlying rights.
- The Producer must have and maintain full responsibility and control over all creative and financial aspects of the production.
- The Producer must maintain full responsibility and control, and have final decision-making authority, over all aspects of production financing.
- The Producer must have and maintain full responsibility and control over the negotiation of the initial exploitation agreements.
- The Producer is entitled to reasonable and demonstrable monetary participation in terms of budgeted fees, overhead, and exploitation revenues.

### **Formats**

- Format programs, based on popular concepts or formats initially produced and exploited in a territory outside of Canada, and Intended to be produced in Canada by a Canadian producer under a licence issued by the non-Canadian owner of the underlying rights, are eligible for the CPTC.
- The Canadian producer must clearly demonstrate that he or she controls the initial exploitation of the Canadian version of the production.
  - The format must have been produced and exploited in another territory.
  - · Exploitation rights can be restricted to Canada only.
  - · The length of the exploitation term granted to the Canadian production company should not be restricted to less than 25 years.
  - The Canadian production company must have control over the exploitation rights of its production in any other territories
  - · The Canadian production company must still retain an acceptable share of revenues from any exploitation in non-Canadian territories.
  - · The Canadian production company must own the copyright in the completed version of the format program it is producing.
  - · The Canadian production company must establish that it meets CAVCO's producer control requirements.
  - · All available chain-of-title documentation must be provided as part of an application for a format program.

51

### **CAVCO – Contact Information**

For more information on CAVCO, including:

- · CPTC and PSTC guidelines
- how to apply for a CAVCO personnel number
   how to apply using the CAVCO online system
- - · checklists for applications
  - CAVCO Public Notices

visit our website (http://canada.pch.gc.ca/eng/1455560477351) or call 1-888-433-2200.